Office of Chief Counsel
Internal Revenue Service

Memorandum

Number: 200603026

Release Date: 1/20/2006

CC:SB:SBerman
POSTS-109746-05

UILC: 9999.99-00 9999.99-01
date: September 01, 2005
to: K. Steven Burgess, Director, Examination, Small Business/Self Employed
Rodney Hare, Territory Manager, FTL1

from: Sara, M. Coe, Assistant Division Counsel (ATAT), SB/SE Division Counsel CC:SB

subject: Foreign Bank and Financial Accounts Report (FBAR) Penalty, November 23, 2004
Memorandum from Rodney Hare, Territory Manager, FTL1

Thisisin response to areques for guidance from you and Rodney Hare with respect to the
section 5321(a)(5) civil FBAR penalty for willful violations with respect to Offshore Credit Card
Program (OCCP) and Last Chance Compliance Initiative (LCCI) cases. | would be happy to
meet with you or othersin SBSE to further discuss these issues.

The memorandum raises three issues, each with subordinate questions, and posits four scenarios
for which guidance is sought. The three issues concern (1) the proper interpretation of the
willful standard, (2

and (3) the situation of offshore credit card accounts that are not associated with bank accounts
for deposits. The four scenarios supply a set of facts and variations on the facts and ask whether
we believe the FBAR penalty should be asserted.

|ssue 1:

With respect to the issue of “willfulness’ (identified as Issue 1 in the November 23
memorandum) there are two questions. The first question is whether the phrase *willful violation
(or willfully causes any violation)’ has the same definition and interpretation under 31 U.S.C.

§ 5321 (the civil penalty) and § 5322 (the criminal penalty). The answer is yes.
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Both section 5321(a)(5), providing for a civil penalty, and section 5322(a), providing for
criminal penalties, contain asimilar “willfulness’ requirement. Section 5321(a)(5) provides that
“The Secretary of the Treasury may impose a civil money penalty on any person who willfully
violates, or any person willfully causing any violation of, any provision of section 5314.”

Section 5322 provides that “[a] person willfully violating this subchapter [the Bank Secrecy
Act]...or aregulation prescribed or order issued under this subchapter...shall be fined not more
than $250,000, or imprisoned for not more than five years, or both.” The same word, willful, is
used in both of these sections. Statutory construction rules would suggest that the same word
used in related sections should be consistently construed.

There are no cases in which the issue presented is construing “willful” in the civil penalty
context. Ratzlaf v. United States, 510 U.S. 135 (1994), is a Supreme Court case that addressed
the standard for willfulness in the context of a criminal violation of a structuring provision of the
Bank Secrecy Act (BSA). The standard applied in Ratzlaf, at 141, was “a voluntary intentional
violation of aknown legal duty”; that is, the government had to prove that the defendant had
acted with knowledge that his conduct was unlawful in order to establish he had willfully
violated the anti-structuring law. It was not enough that he knew the bank had a duty to report
the transactions. In his dissenting opinion, Justice Blackmun argued for alower standard (one
where the person has knowledge of the third party’ s reporting requirement but not specific
knowledge of the illegality of his own actions). Infootnote 5 to his dissent, however, Justice
Blackmun noted that:

[1]1n the context of the other reporting provisions -- 88 5313, 5314
[establishing the FBAR reporting and record keeping requirements,

and 5316 -- the entity that can ‘willfully violate' each provision isalso

the entity charged with the reporting duty; as aresult, aviolation with
“knowledge of the reporting requirements’ necessarily entails the entity’s
knowledge of the illegality of its conduct (that is, itsfaillureto filea
required report). In contrast, § 5324 [the provision that was violated in
Ratzlaf] prohibits a customer from purposefully evading a bank’ s reporting
requirements, so knowledge of the reporting requirements does not collapse
into actual knowledge that the customer’s own conduct is prohibited.

Although Justice Blackmun’s opinion is adissent in a case in which the interpretation of
“willful” in the context of aviolation of section 5314 was not at issue, we agree with his
conclusion that in the case of the FBAR penalty, in order for there to be a voluntary intentional
violation of a known legal duty, the accountholder would just have to have knowledge that he
had a duty to file an FBAR, since knowledge of the duty to file an FBAR would entail
knowledge that it isillegal not to file the FBAR. A corollary of this principle isthat there isno
willfulness if the accountholder has no knowledge of the duty to file the FBAR.

1 This memorandum cites the section 5321 penalty as in effect prior to the American Jobs
Creation Act of 2004 (AJCA). Although the AJCA reorganized section 5321 and added a
separate penalty not requiring a showing of willfulness, it retained a penalty for willful
violations, so the discussion here applies as well under the AJCA.
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We agree that cases involving willful FBAR violations will generally have to rely on
circumstantial evidence. Also, as noted in the memorandum, willfulness can be inferred where
an entire course of conduct establishes the necessary intent. An example of where such an
inference was made in the context of acriminal FBAR violation can be found in United Statesv.
Sturman, 951 F.2d 1466, 1476 (6th Cir. 1991).

A second question in the November 23 memorandum, with respect to the willfulness issue, is
whether the criteria for assertion of the civil FBAR penalty are the same as the burden of proof
that the Service has when asserting the civil fraud penalty under IRC section 6663. Although
there are no cases that address this issue with respect to the civil FBAR penalty, we expect the
answer to be yes. Thisis because of the inherent difficulty of proving, or disproving, a state of
mind (willfulness) at the time of aviolation.

The burden of proof for criminal cases for establishing willfulness is to provide proof “beyond a
reasonable doubt.” Although the same definition for willfulness applies (“a voluntary intentional
violation of a known legal duty”), the Service would have a lesser burden of proof to meet with
respect to the civil FBAR penalty than the criminal penalty. We expect that a court will find the
burden in civil FBAR cases to be that of providing “clear and convincing evidence,” rather than
merely a “preponderance of the evidence.” The clear and convincing evidence standard isthe
same burden the Service must meet with respect to civil tax fraud cases where the Service also
has to show the intent of the taxpayer at the time of the violation. Courts have traditionally
applied the clear and convincing standard with respect to fraud cases in general, not just to tax
fraud cases, because, just asit is difficult to show intent, it isalso difficult to show alack of
intent. The higher standard of clear and convincing evidence offers some protection for an
individual who may be wrongly accused of fraud.

The burden of proof the Service has with respect to civil tax fraud penalties represents an
exception to the general presumption of correctness that the courts have afforded to tax
assessments (where the taxpayer, who is in the best position to provide supporting
documentation, would ordinarily have the burden to show that taxes and tax penalties assessed
areincorrect). Thereisa presumption of correctness in tax cases because the courts recognize
the importance of the government’s ability to efficiently collect taxes, which are “the life-blood
of government.”? Because the FBAR penalty is not atax or atax penalty, the presumption of
correctness with respect to tax assessments would not apply to an FBAR penalty assessment for
awillful violation—another reason we believe that the Service will need to meet the higher
standard of clear and convincing evidence.’

2 Bull v. United States, 295 U.S. 247, at 259 (1935).

3 Infootnote 2 of United States v. Dollar Bank Money Market Account, 980 F.2d 233 (3rd Cir.
1992), dealing with a violation of the anti-structuring provisions of section 5324 of Title 31, the
court stated that “[i]n a civil penalty or criminal case under 31 U.S.C. 88 5321-5322 (1988), the
government has the burden [of proof regarding mens rea]."
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Please note that under section 7491(c), the Service bears the burden of production with respect to
all penalties and additions to tax asserted under Title 26. The FBAR penalty is not asserted
under that Title, so section 7491(c) will have no bearing here.

Clarification was requested with respect to how many of the documents identified in Exhibit A,
attached to the November 23 memorandum, would be required as evidence to support awillful
violation and if some of the elements are more important than others. Exhibit A isalisting of
documents, such as copies of bank account statements and agreements, that may be used to
support a determination that an FBAR violation iswillful. A determination that there was a
willful violation will likely need to be supported by some combination of the documents on the
list and not all the documents listed may be available to the revenue agent. The answer asto
which combination of documents will be adequate to support willfulness, and which elements are
more important, will depend on the facts and circumstances of each case.

Finally, the memorandum suggested that the Service should recommend regulations be issued to
redefine “willfulness’ for purposes of asserting the civil FBAR penalty. Regulations may
provide clarification with respect to the meaning of a statute but they can never be in derogation
of astatute. Thereis no question that Congress intended the section 5321(a)(5) penalty to only
be asserted in cases where there have been willful violations. The “willfulness” requirement
cannot be changed by regulation.

ect to the second issue identified in the November 23 memorandum,

onses to this issue.

In other situations, in which taxpayers want to accept the LCCI offer, but feel that they should
not be liable for the FBAR penalty, examiners have discretion not to impose the FBAR penalty.
Under the LCCI, taxpayer/accountholders are in essentially the same position with the one-year
FBAR penalty that they are in with the one-year civil fraud penalty. The LCCI letter says
regarding the civil fraud penalty that “I1f your information shows that the civil fraud penalty...is
warranted...we will impose the civil fraud penalty for only the major year.” That is, imposition
of the civil fraud penalty is not automatic. The FBAR language says, “Also, civil penalties for
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violations involving [FBARs] will be imposed for only one year and we may resolve the FBAR
penalty for less than the statutory amount based on the facts and circumstances of your case.”
The instructions to agents contained in the Guidelines for Mitigation of the FBAR Civil Penalty
for LCCI Cases provide: “The examiner may determine that the facts and circumstances of a
particular case may warrant that a penalty under these guidelines is not appropriate or that a
lesser amount than the guidelines would otherwise provide is appropriate.” 1 agents follow
these guidelines we need not be imposing the FBAR penalty arbitrarily in cases in which it
clearly does not apply.

The memorandum asksif it is possible to shift the burden of proof for willfulnessto an
uncooperative or unresponsive taxpayer. Unfortunately, no. Thereis no provisionin Title 31 for
shifting the burden of proof with respect to willfulness. Failure to cooperate, however, would be
afactor supporting other circumstantial evidence in favor of imposing an FBAR penalty.

Finally, under Issue 2, advice was sought as to the amount of penalty that may be assessed in
cases where the total amounts in a foreign account are not available. Where it is known that a
violation occurred but it is unknown how much money was in the foreign account, section 5314
provides for the assessment of a penalty in an amount up to $25,000 for willful violations
occurring before October 22, 2004 and up to $100,000 for violations occurring after October 21,
2004.

| ssue 3:

The memorandum raised a third question of whether either a“secured” offshore credit card
account or a credit card account in which large advance payments were made, resulting in
positive balances in the account, can be a financial account for FBAR reporting purposes.”

The definition for “financial accounts’ is contained in the instructions for filing the FBAR
report. The instructions make no reference to credit cards. The instructions state that a financial
account:

Generally includes any bank, securities, securities derivatives or other
financial instruments accounts. Such accounts generally also encompass
any accounts in which the assets are held in a commingled fund, and the
account owner holds an equity interest in the fund [as would be the case
with a mutual fund account]. The term also means any savings, demand,
checking, deposit, time deposit, or any other account maintained with a
financial institution or other person engaged in the business of afinancial
institution.

4 Exhibit B of the referenced memorandum includes a copy of a credit card application form
from an offshore bank. The form represents that it is an application form for a*“secured” credit
card. Applicants must complete atrust agreement and provide a security deposit. The trust
agreement states that the security deposit is held by the trust as collateral for the credit card and
that the deposit will earn interest income for the credit card accountholder. The accountholder is
generally entitled to the security deposit upon cancellation of the credit card accourt.
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A secured credit card account can be secured by a separate deposit account including a deposit
account with atrust as described in the credit card application form in Exhibit B.> The credit
limit for a secured credit card account would typically be tied to the balance in the deposit
account that is securing the credit card account. The deposit account would clearly be a
“financial account” for FBAR purposes.

We also believe that a debit card account is a financial account. If acard agreement requires that
advance payments be made to cover anticipated charges, then the card is a debit card, not a credit
card, and a debit card would be a financial account for FBAR purposes.

Whether the credit card account itself isa financial account for FBAR purposes is another
question. Generally, a credit card account would not be a financial account.® Although the
definition of financial account includes a reference to “any other account maintained with a
financial ingtitution,” this language immediately follows a listing of traditional deposit accounts.
Because it is unclear whether the above definition was intended to include credit card accounts, it
would generally not be appropriate to assert the FBAR penalty for awillful failure to report a
credit card account with aforeign bank.

If, however, by making advance payments, the card holder was using the credit card account as a
debit card or a checking account, then an argument could be made, depending on the facts and
circumstances of the particular case, that the credit card account was a financial account for
purposes of the FBAR reporting and recordkeeping requirements. Showing that a credit card
account isafinancial account, however, isonly the first step in determining whether the FBAR
penalty applies. We would also need to be able to show that the accountholder willfully failed to
report the account.

With respect to a deposit with atrust associated with the credit card account, although a card
holder generally would not be required to file an FBAR with respect to the credit card account,
the trust account (which in Exhibit B is held as collateral for the credit card and will earn interest
for the card holder) does act as a deposit account and, therefore, can be considered a “financial
account.” Further, for this type of credit card, the existence of the credit card account would be
circumstantial evidence of the existence of the trust account, and the credit card statements
would be helpful in estimating the minimum amount deposited in the trust account.

Also asked as part of Issue 3 was whether, in cases where it is determined that a credit card
account was used as a deposit account and that the FBAR penalty for awillful violation was
determined to be appropriate, the FBAR penalty can be based on the highest balance shown on

5 A credit card account can be secured by a deposit account or any other asset the credit card
issuer iswilling to accept as collateral. For purposes of this discussion, however, it is assumed
that the credit card is secured by a deposit account.
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the credit card statements during the year. The answer is yes, subject to statutory limitations on
the amount of the penalty. The decision to base the FBAR penalty on the highest balance in an
account during the year was a policy decision made during the development of the FBAR
mitigation guidelines. Section 5321(a)(5), however, limits the amount of the penalty to the lesser
of $100,000 or the balance in the account at the time of the violation which, for failure to report
accounts, is June 30 of the succeeding year.” If it is determined that an FBAR penalty is
warranted, the overpayment balances on the monthly credit card statements could be used to
compute the penalty amount, subject to the above statutory limitation.

The memorandum also included four fact scenarios involving offshore credit cards. In each of
the scenarios, the memorandum asks if Counsel would concur in asserting the FBAR penalty.
The scenarios, however, do not provide enough information to give a blanket opinion. For each
of the four scenarios, the facts and circumstances of individual cases could result in different
determinations. In each case, there are two determinations to be made: first, whether the account
in question is afinancial account for FBAR purposes,® and second, whether the failure to file an
FBAR was willful (that is, whether the accountholder knew he had to file an FBAR). Below is
an attempt to address each of the four scenarios you presented.

In Scenario 1, there are credit card statements demonstrating that the taxpayer made large
payments to a credit card account in a foreign country for at least three months. While more
supporting documentation would help to make a stronger case, looking at the whole picture,
where the taxpayer did not file an income tax return in recent years, made large numbers of cash
advances against the credit card, and made large advance payments to the credit card account in
three months in one year that totaled multiple times the amount of the credit limit for the credit
card, it appearsthat the card holder intended to use the credit card account as a debit card or
other traditional deposit account. It follows that an argument could be made that, in this case, the
credit card account is a financial account for FBAR purposes.

7 The AJCA increased the maximum civil FBAR penalty for awillful violation occurring after
October 22, 2004, to the greater of $100,000 or 50% of the amount in the account at the time of
the violation.

8 For each of the 4 scenarios the memorandum requested whether we would concur that a
foreign credit card account was a financial account and asked whether the taxpayer’ s failure to
file or responses to the foreign account question on Schedule B would change our opinion.
Failure to file and the content of Schedule B generally have no bearing on whether an account is
afinancial account. These factors are pertinent to whether there was willfulness.
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Even if the civil FBAR penalty could not be asserted against the accountholder in Scenario 1, it
ears that significant civil tax penalties should .

For Scenario 2, where a deposit account with a foreign bank (an account, for which the taxpayer
has signature authority, that is held in the name of an international business company, or IBC,
that is solely owned by the taxpayer) and “secured” credit card accounts have been identified, the
FBAR reporting and recordkeeping requirements would apply with respect to the deposit account
because the taxpayer has signature authority over the account.

Although the credit card accounts are described as “ secured credit cards” it is not clear whether
the cards are secured by the deposit account that has been identified or by another, unidentified
deposit account. It isalso not clear whether advance payments, resulting in positive balances,
are being made to the credit card accounts. Whether the credit cards will be considered financial
accounts for FBAR purposes will depend on the facts and circumstances of the case. Scenario 2
does not provide sufficient information to make such a determination.

Aswith Scenario 1,
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In Scenario 3, the taxpayer owned several foreign “shell” corporations. A separate foreign bank
account and a separate credit card account was held in the name of each corporation. Each of the
bank accounts would clearly be a financial account for FBAR purposes. |If willfulnessis
established, the taxpayer could be liable for the FBAR penalty with respect to the bank accounts.
There is not enough information to demonstrate that the credit card accounts were used as
deposit accounts, however, so a determination cannot be made that the credit card accounts are
financial accounts for FBAR purposes.

In Scenario 4, the taxpayer lives in aforeign country, has a foreign investment account, and
rees to the LCCI settlement except for the FBAR penalty. It will be necessary to consider

We disagree with the statement in the November 23 memorandum in Scenario 4 that the
taxpayer must agreeto the FBAR penalty for one year in order to participate in the LCCI
program. Under both the LCCI program and the mitigation guidelines for FBAR penalties, the
examiner has discretion to not assert the FBAR penalty if the examiner determines the penalty is
not warranted based on the facts and circumstances of the case. Scenario 4 is agood example of
a case where ataxpayer will not agreeto tax adjustments and penalties because of an objection to
an FBAR penalty which may not be warranted given the facts of the case.

In the four scenarios in the November 23 memorandum, there appears to be a concern that the
civil FBAR penalty must be asserted in every situation identified. The penalty statute, however,
provides for discretion in asserting the penalty. The purpose for the penalty, and the reason for
the flexibility Congress provided in asserting the penalty, isto encourage compliance. Thereis
no requirement to assert a separate FBAR penalty for every possible technical violation
encountered and doing so could lead, in some cases, to an absurd result. To put thisin
perspective, consider that the section 6663 civil fraud penalty is limited to 75% of the
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Thiswriting may contain privileged information. Any unauthorized disclosure of thiswriting
may undermine our ability to protect the privileged information. If disclosure is determined to
be necessary, please call me.

Please call me if you would like to discuss this memorandum further or if you have any other
questions concerning the civil FBAR penalty.

Cc: Tom Ludwig, Sandra Stolt, Kevin McCarthy, Elizabeth Witzgall, Tom Hull



